IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 94-50047

Summary Cal endar

GCLORI A RAM REZ,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellant,
V.
CITY OF ODESSA, TEXAS,

Def endant - Appel | ee.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas
(MD-93- CVv-93)

(Cct ober 14, 1994)
Before KING H G3 NBOTHAM and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.

PER CURI AM *

Goria Ramrez ("Ramrez") appeals the district court's
grant of summary judgnent in favor of defendant Gty of QOdessa,
Texas ("City") in her suit alleging sexual discrimnation in
enpl oynent in violation of Title VII of the Gvil R ghts Act of
1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e. Ramrez argues that the district court

erred in granting summary judgnent for Gty because there were

“Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particular
cases on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes
needl ess expense on the public and burdens on the |egal
profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published.



genui ne issues of material fact concerning whether Cty's
proffered justification for dism ssing Ramrez was pretextual.
Because our plenary review of the sunmary judgnment evi dence | eads
us to agree with the district court's grant of summary judgnent,

we affirm

| . BACKGROUND

A.  Factual Background.

Ram rez, an Hispanic fenmal e, began working for the City of
(Odessa on Decenber 19, 1977. She received satisfactory
evaluations and was ultimately pronoted to the post of Sanitation
Operations Supervisor. |In Septenber 1989, City adopted a
stringent new al cohol and drug policy in order to conply with the
Federal Drug Free Wrkplace Act. This policy required, inter
alia, all city enployees to report vehicular accidents within two
hours, regardless of the anmount of danage. The purpose of the
reporting requirenent was to enable City to conduct tinely
al cohol and drug tests on enpl oyees involved in accidents, as
well as to mnimze liability exposure and to preserve evi dence
of accidents. Failure to tinely report any accident was grounds
for suspension. By contrast, failure of the drug or alcohol test
was grounds for dism ssal.

I n Novenber 1989, Ram rez was suspended w thout pay for four
days for failing to investigate an accident reported by a
subordinate. Ramrez did not fill out an accident report as

required by Cty's drug and al cohol policy, nor did she require



t he subordinate to undergo a drug or al cohol test. The

subordi nate, a nmale truck driver, received a three-day
suspensi on. Anot her mal e supervisor, who also failed to

i nvestigate the accident, received the sane four-day suspension
as Ramrez.

Because City's policy inposed severe consequences for
failing a drug or al cohol test--term nation of enploynent--but
merely inposed suspension for failing to report an accident, the
policy had the unintended effect of encouragi ng enpl oyees
involved in accidents to keep mum By remaining silent after an
acci dent, the maxi num penalty an enpl oyee faced was suspensi on.
On the other hand, reporting an acci dent exposed the enpl oyee to
a mandatory al cohol or drug test which, if failed, would result
in dismssal. To renedy this perverse incentive, the Director of
Adm ni strative Services, Tom Cody ("Cody"), revised the policy to
equalize the penalties for failure to report and failure of a
drug or al cohol test, thereby making both violations grounds for
term nati on.

After this change in policy becane effective, Ramrez hit a
nmobi |l e hone "tie-down" while driving a city car through a vacant
lot. Ramrez and two subordi nates, who were passengers in the
car, got out, inspected the vehicle, and successfully maneuvered
the car away fromthe tie-down. Ram rez never reported the
incident, believing it was not an "accident" because she could
not discern any danmage to the vehicle. Her fell ow passengers,

however, concluded that it was an accident and reported it.



Cody, Ramirez's supervisor, ordered the car inspected and
determ ned that deep scratches on the underside of the car were
caused by contact with the trailer tie-down. Follow ng a
preterm nation hearing, Ramrez was dism ssed for failure to
report an accident in violation of the drug and al cohol policy.
Ramrez filed a tinely conplaint wwth the Equal Enpl oynent
Qpportunity Comm ssion ("EECC'), alleging her discharge was
noti vated discrimnation based upon gender and national origin.
The EEOC rejected both clainms. Ramrez then sought injunctive
and conpensatory relief in the United States District Court,
whi ch granted summary judgnent for Cty on grounds that Ramrez
had failed to provide sufficient evidence of discrimnatory
aninus for a rational trier of fact to permt recovery.

On appeal, Ramrez asserts that circunstances precedi ng her
di sm ssal provide sufficient direct evidence of sexual
discrimnation to create a genuine issue of material fact as to
discrimnatory aninus. Her national origin discrimnation claim
al so rejected by the district court, has not been appealed. W
turn now to the facts put forth by Ram rez which she asserts

create a triable issue as to discrimnatory aninus.

B. Evidence of Discrimnatory Aninus.

The evidence proffered by Ramrez to support her sexual
discrimnation claimis essentially of two types: (1) remarks by
various officials of the CGty, and (2) |ess severe discipline

i nposed agai nst nmal e enpl oyees for workplace policy violations.



Specifically, Ramrez presented evidence that approximtely
one year prior to her termnation, the Director of Public Wrks,
Bobby Tucker ("Tucker"), told her that she "needed to be careful”
because recent departnental consolidation had resulted in the
di sm ssal of several female nmanagers. Tucker al so inforned
Ramrez that Bill Brown, the Cty Manager, "did not think highly
of wonen [in] managerial positions.”" And finally, Tucker told
Ram rez that Bob Derrington, Ramrez's supervisor at the tine,
had ordered Tucker to fire Ramrez, stating, "Just get rid of
her. She is a woman, you need to get rid of her." Ramrez al so
asserts that several nmale sanitation departnent enpl oyees
recei ved nore lenient discipline for allegedly anal ogous

wor kpl ace policy violations.

1. STANDARD OF REVI EW
We review a district court's grant of summary judgnent de
novo to determ ne whet her the pl eadings, discovery, and
affidavits before the district court indicate that there is no
genui ne issue of material fact such that the noving party is
entitled to judgnent as a matter of |aw pursuant to Rule 56(c) of

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Brewer v. WIkinson, 3

F.3d 816, 819 (5th Cr. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. C. 1081

(1994); Moore v. Eli Lilly & Co., 990 F.2d 812, 815 (5th Gir.),

cert. denied, 114 S. . 467 (1993); Hansen v. Continental Ins.

Co., 940 F.2d 971, 975 (5th Cr. 1991). In so doing, we view all

factual questions in the light nost favorable to the non-novant.



Lenelle v. Universal Mg. Corp., 18 F.3d 1268, 1272 (5th Cr

1994); Moore, 990 F.2d at 815; Duplantis v. Shell Ofshore, Inc.,

948 F.2d 187, 189 (5th Cr. 1991). A dispute about a materia
fact is genuine "if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury

could return a verdict for the nonnoving party." Anderson v.

Li berty Lobby, Inc., 477 U S. 242, 248 (1986). In a non-jury

case (such as this one), in which the district court is also the

factfinder, the judge has sonewhat greater |eeway to grant

summary judgnent. Matter of Placid Gl Co., 932 F.2d 394, 398
(5th Gr. 1991). Wth these precepts in mnd, we nowturn to the

case at hand.

I11. ANALYSIS
The district court determned that Ram rez had established a
prima facie case of sexual discrimnation through indirect
evidence. Ramrez contends, however, that her proof constituted
direct, not indirect, evidence of discrimnatory aninus, and that
she is therefore entitled to shift the burden of proof onto the
City to prove that her discharge was notivated by legitimte,

nondi scrim natory reasons.! In support of this argunent, Ramirez

Y1n Title VII direct evidence cases, the franework of
McDonnel |l Douglas Corp. v. Geen, 411 U S. 792 (1973) and Texas
Dep't of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U S. 248 (1981) is
i napplicable; thus, a direct evidence plaintiff may shift the
burden of proof onto the defendant to prove that dism ssal was
not notivated by discrimnation. Transworld Airlines, Inc. V.
Thurston, 469 U. S. 111, 121 (1985); More v. Eli Lilly & Co., 990
F.2d 812, 815 (5th Cr. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. C. 467
(1993). For indirect evidence cases, by contrast, the MDonnel
Dougl as- Burdi ne framework applies and the plaintiff nust
affirmatively prove discrimnatory intent.
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points to her clains that Tucker told her that she "needed to be
careful ," that the Cty Manager "did not think highly of wonen

manageri al positions,"” and that a fornmer supervisor had ordered
Tucker to "just get rid of her. She is a wonan, you need to get
rid of her."

The district court conducted a careful analysis of Ramrez's
proof and determ ned that these remarks were insufficient to
constitute direct evidence. W agree. Direct evidence is

evidence which, if believed, proves discrimnatory aninus w thout

i nference or presunption. Brown v. East Mss. Elec. Power Ass'n,

989 F.2d 858, 861 (5th Cr. 1993). As the Suprene Court stated
in Price Waterhouse, 490 U. S. 228 (1989) (plurality), "[r]emarks

at work that are based on sex stereotypes do not inevitably prove
t hat gender played a part in a particul ar enploynent decision.”
Id. at 251; id. at 277 (O Connor, J., concurring). Wile such
stray remarks may be probative of discrimnatory aninus, id.
they are not so egregious that, standing alone, they can suffice
to shift the burden of proof to the defendant.

As Ram rez cannot offer direct evidence of sexual
discrimnation, the district court correctly anal yzed her case as
one requiring the three-step anal ytical franmework outlined by the

Suprene Court in MDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Geen, 411 U S. 792

(1973), and Texas Dep't of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U S.

248 (1981). Under this framework, a Title VII plaintiff nust
first establish a prima facie case that: (1) she was di sm ssed;

(2) she was qualified for the position; (3) she was within a



protected class at the tine of dismssal; and (4) that enpl oyees
outside the protected class were treated nore favorably.

McDonnel | Dougl as, 411 U. S. at 802; Bodenhei ner v. PPG | ndus.,

Inc., 5 F.3d 955, 957 (5th Gr. 1993); Waggoner v. Gty of

Garland, 987 F.2d 1160, 1163-64 (5th Cr. 1993); Thornbrough v.

Colunbus & Geenville RR, 760 F.2d 633, 638 n.4, 639 (5th Cr.

1985). The district court found that Ram rez had successfully
established a prima facie case.
Once a prinma facie case is established, the second step of

t he McDonnell Dougl as-Burdine franework shifts the burden of

production to the defendant to articulate a legitimte,

nondi scrimnatory reason for the dismssal. Board of Trustees of

Keene State College v. Sweeney, 439 U S 24, 25 (1978) (per

curianm); MDonnell Douglas, 411 U S. at 802; Bodenheiner, 5 F.3d

at 957. In this case, City's proffered legitimate reason for
termnating Ramrez was her failure to report an accident.? At

this point, Ramrez's prima facie presunption of sexual

2 Ramirez argues that she did not have an "accident" within
the nmeaning of the Cty's drug and al cohol policy and that her
actions cannot therefore constitute a "legitimte" reason for
dismssal. This contention distorts the inquiry. The issue for
the district court (and this court on appeal) is not whether
Ramrez did, in fact, violate City policy, but whether the Cty
used the alleged violation as a pretext for discrimnation. |If
an enpl oyer, in good faith, believes an enployee violated a
policy and term nates the enployee as a result, that is
sufficient to satisfy the enployer's burden of production. Even
if the enployer's reasonable belief turns out to be incorrect, it
W Il not retrospectively alter the legitimcy of the discharge
for Title VII purposes. Moore, 990 F.2d at 16; WAaggoner, 987
F.2d at 1165. As Ramrez has presented no proof that Cty's
determ nation that she had an "accident" was unreasonable or in
bad faith, the district court appropriately considered the Gty's
proffered justification to be legitinmate.
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di scrimnation "drop[ped] out of the picture,” St. Mary's Honor

Center v. Hicks, 113 S. . 2742, 2749 (1993), and Ramrez bore

the burden of proving that GCty's articul ated reason was a

pretext for intentional sexual discrimnation. 1d.; MDonnel

Dougl as, 411 U.S. at 253; Burdine, 450 U S. at 256, Quthrie, 941
F.2d at 378.

Having found that Cty articulated a legitinmate,
nondi scrimnatory reason for dismssing Ramrez, the district
court then proceeded to address the ultinmate question on Cty's
nmotion for sunmmary judgnent: did Ramirez's evidence raise a
genui ne issue of material fact which would permt a reasonable

factfinder to conclude that Cty dism ssed her because of her

gender? In answering this question "no," the district court
determ ned that Ramrez's evidence of disparate enforcenent of
the al cohol and drug policy was not sufficiently anal ogous to
permt a reasonable inference of discrimnatory aninmus. In
particular, the district court held that the nmal e enpl oyees who
were alleged to have been nore leniently treated were not
simlarly situated to Ram rez because: (1) they had no previous
violation of Gty policy; (2) they were determ ned not to have
had an "accident” within the neaning of the Gty policy; (3) they
were not in supervisory positions requiring a higher standard of
conduct; or (4) they were disciplined by a different
deci si onmaker than the one who dism ssed Ramrez. Furthernore,

the district court inplicitly found that any inference of

discrimnatory aninus raised by this proof was negated by



evidence that: (1) three male enpl oyees were al so dism ssed for
failure to report an accident, and (2) of eleven dismssals in
the year preceding Ramrez's dism ssal, only one was female. See

Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U. S. 317, 323 (1986) (holding

summary judgnent is appropriate if noving party submts evidence
whi ch negates material el enent of opponent's claim.

Furthernore, the stray remarks made by Ram rez's co-workers
are not sufficient to prove that her dism ssal was pretextual
The remarks were not corroborated by any w tness ot her than
Ram rez, they occurred approximately one year prior to her
di sm ssal, and they were nade by individuals who did not have a
direct role in her dismssal. This court has |ong held that
"[c]oments which are vague and renpbte in tinme and admnistrative
hierarchy . . . are no nore than "stray renmarks' which are

insufficient to establish discrimnation." Atkin v. Lincoln

Property Co., 991 F.2d 268, 272 (5th Gr. 1993); Guthrie v. Tifco

Indus., Inc., 941 F.2d 374, 379 (5th Gr. 1991), cert. denied,

112 S. C. 1267 (1992); Normand v. Research Inst. of Am, Inc.,

927 F.2d 857, 864 n.3 (5th Gr. 1991); Young v. Gty of Houston,

906 F.2d 177, 182 (5th Cr. 1990). Ramrez has not offered any
evi dence that Cody, the decisionmaker in her dismssal, ever
heard these coments, nuch | ess that these comments are causally
linked to her dism ssal.

In light of these facts, the district court concluded that
Ram rez could not neet her burden of proving that the Cty fired

her based upon her sex; hence, Ramrez failed to create a
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reasonabl e factual question for the jury. W agree with the
district court's analysis. To survive summary judgnent, a Title
VII plaintiff nust offer sonme evidence that would create a
reasonabl e factual inference of discrimnatory aninus. Evi dence
of stray remarks is insufficient. Likew se, evidence regarding
the treatnent accorded fell ow enpl oyees with different positions,
different work histories, different kinds of violations, or who
were disciplined by different decisionmakers is not sufficiently
anal ogous for a reasonable factfinder to draw an inference of
discrimnatory intent.

Because our review of the summary judgnent evi dence
satisfies us that Ramrez failed to create a reasonabl e inference
of discrimnation based upon sex, we accordingly

AFFI RM
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